

AMP Bank Limited ABN 15 081 596 009

Financial Report for the year ended 31 December 2017

AMP Bank Limited ABN 15 081 596 009 FULL YEAR FINANCIAL REPORT 31 December 2017

Table of Contents

DIRECTORS' REPORT	2
AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION TO THE DIRECTORS OF AMP BANK LIMITED	4
INCOME STATEMENT	5
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME	6
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION	7
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY	8
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS	
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	
1. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES	10
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS	18
3. NET INTEREST INCOME	
4. OTHER (EXPENSES) / INCOME AND OPERATING EXPENSES	20
5. INCOME TAX	21
6. OTHER ASSETS	21
7. DEBT SECURITIES	21
8. LOANS AND ADVANCES	22
9. ASSET QUALITY	
10. DEPOSITS AND OTHER BORROWINGS	
11. EMPLOYEE PROVISIONS	24
12. DEBT SECURITIES ON ISSUE	
13. OTHER LIABILITIES	
14. SUBORDINATED DEBT	
15. DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS	
16. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY	
17. COMMITMENTS	
18. AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION	
19. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES	
20. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS	
21. BANK CONTROLLED ENTITY HOLDINGS	
22. RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS INFORMATION	
23. FAIR VALUES	
24. CAPITAL ADEQUACY	
25. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING DATE	
DIRECTORS' DECLARATION	
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT	46

Directors' Report

for the year ended 31 December 2017

The directors of AMP Bank Limited (the Company) present their report on the consolidated entity (the Bank) consisting of AMP Bank Limited and the entities it controlled for the financial year ended 31 December 2017.

Directors

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this report are shown below. Directors were in office for this entire period except where stated otherwise.

Patricia Akopiantz (Chairperson)
Sally Bruce
Holly Suzanna Kramer (appointed on 12 May 2017)
Gordon Lefevre
Wendy Thorpe (appointed on 13 February 2017)
Trudy Vonhoff
Joanne Pollard (resigned on 22 March 2017)
Professor Peter Shergold AC (resigned on 11 May 2017)

Principal activities

AMP Bank Limited is an Australian retail bank offering residential mortgages, deposits, transaction banking, and SMSF products for around 100,000 customers. It also has a small portfolio of practice finance loans supporting AMP's adviser network. AMP Bank distributes through brokers, AMP advisers, and direct to retail customers via phone and internet banking.

Review of operations and results

The result for the year ended 31 December 2017 was a consolidated net profit after tax of \$137m (2016: \$122m).

Dividends & distributions

During 2017, the Bank declared and paid \$8m (2016: \$6m) of dividends to its immediate parent company, AMP Financial Investment Group Holdings Limited. During the full year ended 31 December 2017, AMP Bank paid \$9m (2016: \$10m) of distributions on capital notes to AMP Limited. Details of dividends and distributions paid and declared during the year are disclosed in note 15 of the financial report.

Significant changes in the state of affairs

There have been no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company during the year.

Environmental regulations

The Company's operations are not subject to any particular and significant environmental regulation under a Law of the Commonwealth or State or Territory.

Events occurring after the reporting date

On 5 February 2018, the Company declared a final dividend of \$13m.

With the exception of the above, the directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the year that has significantly affected or may significantly affect the consolidated entity's operations in future years, the results of those operations in future years, or its state of affairs in future years which is not already reflected in this report.

Likely developments

In the opinion of the directors, disclosure of further information about likely developments in the Bank's business is commercially sensitive and would likely be detrimental and result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company.

Directors' Report (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

Indemnification and insurance of directors and officers

Under its Constitution, the Company indemnifies, to the extent permitted by law, all officers of the Company, (including the directors), for any liability (including the costs and expenses of defending actions for an actual or alleged liability) incurred in their capacity as an officer of the Company.

This indemnity is not extended to current or former employees of the AMP group against liability incurred in their capacity as an employee unless approved by the Board of AMP Limited. During or since the end of the financial year, no such indemnities have been provided.

During the financial year, AMP Limited agreed to insure all the officers of the Company against certain liabilities as permitted by the Corporations Act. The insurance policy prohibits disclosure of the nature of the cover, the amount of the premium, the limit of liability and other terms.

AMP Group Holdings Limited ("AMPGH") has entered into a deed of indemnity and access with each director and secretary of the Company. Each deed of indemnity and access provides that:

- these officers will have access to the books of the Company for their period of office and for ten (and in certain cases, seven) years after they cease to hold office (subject to certain conditions); and
- AMPGH agrees to indemnify the officer, to the extent permitted by law, against any liability incurred by the officer in his
 or her capacity as a director or secretary of the Company and of other AMP group companies.

Rounding and parent entity information

In accordance with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) Corporations Instrument 2016/191, amounts in this directors' report and the accompanying financial report have been rounded to the nearest million Australian dollars, unless stated otherwise. The Company has applied Class Order 10/654 and therefore continues to show both parent and consolidated financial statements and notes to the financial statements.

Auditor's independence

The directors have obtained an independence declaration from the Company's auditor, Ernst & Young, a copy of which is attached to this report and forms part of the directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Sydney, 8 February 2018

Director



Ernst & Young 200 George Street Sydney NSW 2000 Australia GPO Box 2646 Sydney NSW 2001 Tel: +61 2 9248 5555 Fax: +61 2 9248 5959 ey.com/au

Auditor's Independence Declaration to the Directors of AMP Bank Limited

As lead auditor for the audit of AMP Bank Limited for the financial year ended 31 December 2017, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

- a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the *Corporations Act 2001* in relation to the audit; and
- b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of AMP Bank Limited and the entities it controlled during the financial year.

Ernst & Young

Grute Young

Clare Sporle Partner 8 February 2018

Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2017

		Conso	lidated	Com	pany
		Dec 2017	Dec 2016	Dec 2017	Dec 2016
	Note	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
Interest income	3	814	756	814	754
Interest expense	3	(531)	(509)	(543)	(518)
Net interest income		283	247	271	236
Fee and commission income		10	9	19	17
Other (expenses) / income	4	(4)	2	(4)	2
Impairment expenses		(5)	(6)	(5)	(6)
Operating expenses	4	(88)	(78)	(85)	(75)
Profit for the year before tax		196	174	196	174
Income tax expense	5	(59)	(52)	(59)	(52)
Profit for the year after tax		137	122	137	122

Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2017

	Consolidated		Company	
	Dec 2017	Dec 2016	Dec 2017	Dec 2016
	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
Profit for the year after tax	137	122	137	122
Other comprehensive income				
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss Cash flow hedges ⁽¹⁾				
- Net profit / (loss) on cashflow hedges	4	(14)	4	(14)
- Tax effect on cashflow hedge gains / losses	(1)	4	(1)	4
- Net amount transferred to profit for the year	10	19	10	19
- Tax effect on amount transferred to profit for the year	(3)	(6)	(3)	(6)
Other comprehensive income for the year	10	3	10	3
Total comprehensive income	147	125	147	125

Footnote:

⁽¹⁾ Cash flow hedge movements relate to interest rate swaps used to manage the Bank's interest rate risk.

Statement of financial position As at 31 December 2017

		Conso	lidated	Company	
		Dec 2017	Dec 2016	Dec 2017	Dec 2016
	Note	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
Assets					
Due from banks		284	342	250	308
Derivative financial assets		23	20	23	20
Other assets	6	5	3	17	3
Debt securities	7	2,528	1,421	2,528	1,421
Loans and advances	8	19,549	17,200	19,549	17,200
Deferred tax assets	5	36	28	12	16
Total assets		22,425	19,014	22,379	18,968
Liabilities					
Due to banks		740	501	740	501
Derivative financial liabilities		27	22	27	22
Deposits and other borrowings	10	13,753	12,466	13,753	12,466
Intercompany tax payable to head entity		34	9	34	9
Employee provisions	11	6	3	6	3
Debt securities on issue	12	6,582	5,001	2,206	1,904
Due to controlled entities		-	æ	4,330	3,052
Other liabilities	13	16	4	16	3
Subordinated debt	14	249	150	249	150
Total liabilities		21,407	18,156	21,361	18,110
Net assets	; x	1,018	858	1,018	858
Equity					
Contributed equity	16	514	484	514	484
Reserves		6	(4)	6	(4)
Retained earnings		498	378	498	378
Total equity		1,018	858	1,018	858

Statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 December 2017

for the year ended 31 December 2017	Equity attributable to shareholders of AMP Bank Limited				
	-	Contributed	Other	Retained	
		equity	reserves (1)	earnings	Total equity
	Note	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
Consolidated					
31 Dec 2017					202
Balance at the beginning of the year		484	(4)	378	858
Profit for the year after tax			-	137	137
Other comprehensive income			10		10
Total comprehensive income		-	10	137	147
Issue of ordinary share capital	0.000	30	-	-	30
Distributions paid - capital notes	15		_	(9)	(9)
Dividends paid - ordinary shares	15			(8)	(8)
Balance at the end of the year		514	6	498	1,018
Consolidated					
31 Dec 2016					
Balance at the beginning of the year		484	(7)	272	749
Profit for the year after tax		=	-	122	122
Other comprehensive income		-	3	Ε	3
Total comprehensive income		-	3	122	125
Distributions paid - capital notes	15	=	=	(10)	(10)
Dividends paid - ordinary shares	15	-	-	(6)	(6)
Balance at the end of the year		484	(4)	378	858
		Contributed	Other	Retained	Total equity
		equity \$m	reserves ⁽¹⁾ \$m	earnings \$m	\$m
Company		φIII		****	
Company 31 Dec 2017		фШ	****	****	
31 Dec 2017	*	484	(4)	378	
31 Dec 2017 Balance at the beginning of the year	*				858
31 Dec 2017	£	484		378	85 8
31 Dec 2017 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax		484	(4)	378 137	85 8 137 10
31 Dec 2017 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax Other comprehensive income		484	(4) - 10	378 137 -	858 137 10 147
31 Dec 2017 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax Other comprehensive income Total comprehensive income	. 15	484 - - -	(4) - 10	378 137 - 137	858 137 10 147 30
31 Dec 2017 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax Other comprehensive income Total comprehensive income Issue of ordinary share capital	15 15	484 - - -	(4) - 10	378 137 - 137	858 137 10 147 30 (9)
31 Dec 2017 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax Other comprehensive income Total comprehensive income Issue of ordinary share capital Distributions paid - capital notes		484 - - -	(4) - 10 10 - -	378 137 - 137 - (9)	858 137 10 147 30 (9)
31 Dec 2017 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax Other comprehensive income Total comprehensive income Issue of ordinary share capital Distributions paid - capital notes Dividends paid - ordinary shares Balance at the end of the year		484 - - 30 -	(4) - 10 10 - -	378 137 - 137 - (9) (8)	858 137 10 147 30 (9)
31 Dec 2017 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax Other comprehensive income Total comprehensive income Issue of ordinary share capital Distributions paid - capital notes Dividends paid - ordinary shares Balance at the end of the year Company		484 - - 30 -	(4) - 10 10 - -	378 137 - 137 - (9) (8)	858 137 10 147 30 (9)
31 Dec 2017 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax Other comprehensive income Total comprehensive income Issue of ordinary share capital Distributions paid - capital notes Dividends paid - ordinary shares Balance at the end of the year Company 31 Dec 2016		484 - - - 30 - - 514	(4) - 10 10 - - - 6	378 137 - 137 - (9) (8) 498	858 137 10 147 30 (9) (8)
31 Dec 2017 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax Other comprehensive income Total comprehensive income Issue of ordinary share capital Distributions paid - capital notes Dividends paid - ordinary shares Balance at the end of the year Company 31 Dec 2016 Balance at the beginning of the year		484 - - 30 -	(4) - 10 10 - -	378 137 - 137 - (9) (8)	858 137 10 147 30 (9 (8 1,018
31 Dec 2017 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax Other comprehensive income Total comprehensive income Issue of ordinary share capital Distributions paid - capital notes Dividends paid - ordinary shares Balance at the end of the year Company 31 Dec 2016 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax		484 - - - 30 - - 514	(4) - 10 10 - - - - 6	378 137 - 137 (9) (8) 498	858 137 10 147 30 (9 (8 1,018
31 Dec 2017 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax Other comprehensive income Total comprehensive income Issue of ordinary share capital Distributions paid - capital notes Dividends paid - ordinary shares Balance at the end of the year Company 31 Dec 2016 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax Other comprehensive income		484 - - 30 - - 514	(4) - 10 10 - - - 6	378 137 - 137 (9) (8) 498	858 137 10 147 30 (9 (8 1,018
31 Dec 2017 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax Other comprehensive income Total comprehensive income Issue of ordinary share capital Distributions paid - capital notes Dividends paid - ordinary shares Balance at the end of the year Company 31 Dec 2016 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax Other comprehensive income Total comprehensive income	15	484 	(4) - 10 10 - - - - 6	378 137 - 137 (9) (8) 498 272 122 -	858 137 10 147 30 (9 (8 1,018 749 122
31 Dec 2017 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax Other comprehensive income Total comprehensive income Issue of ordinary share capital Distributions paid - capital notes Dividends paid - ordinary shares Balance at the end of the year Company 31 Dec 2016 Balance at the beginning of the year Profit for the year after tax Other comprehensive income		484 	(4) - 10 10 - - - 6	378 137 - 137 (9) (8) 498	858 137 10 147 30 (9)

Footnotes:

(1) Other reserves comprise of cash flow hedge reserve and share based payment reserve. Cash flow hedge reserve represents the cumulative impact of changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges which are effective under hedge accounting rules. Hedging gains and losses are transferred to the income statement when they are deemed ineffective or upon realisation of the cash flow.

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2017

		Consolidated		Com	pany
		Dec 2017	Dec 2016	Dec 2017	Dec 2016
	Note	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
Cash flows from operating activities					
Interest received		810	761	810	758
Interest paid		(498)	(513)	(516)	(514)
Fees and commissions received		10	9	19	17
Payments to suppliers and employees		(85)	(79)	(82)	(76)
Income tax paid		(47)	(66)	(47)	(66)
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities		190	112	184	119
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:					
Net funds advanced to customers for loans and advances		(2,374)	(2,006)	(2,374)	(2,006)
Proceeds from sale of loans to related party		-	68	-	68
Net funds advanced to banks		239	(283)	239	(283)
Net acceptance from deposits and other borrowings		1,299	1,862	1,299	1,862
Net increase / (decrease) in loans due to controlled entities		-		1,289	(54)
Net (increase) / decrease in other assets		(2)	3	(14)	5
Net increase / (decrease) in other liabilities		12		13	(1)
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities	20(b)	(636)	(244)	636	(290)
Cash flows from investing activities					
Purchase of debt securities		(6,938)	(3,858)	(6,938)	(3,858)
Proceeds from maturity of debt securities		5,831	4,126	5,831	4,126
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities		. (1,107)	268	(1,107)	268
Cash flows from financing activities				ş.	
Issue of ordinary shares		30	-	30	_
Proceeds from Issuance of Subordinated debt		250	_	250	-
Redemption of Subordinated debt		(150)	-	(150)	_
Proceeds from issue of debt securities on issue		4,644	2,120	1,150	602
Repayment of debt securities on issue		(3,072)	(2,083)	(850)	(495)
Dividends paid - ordinary shares		(8)	(6)	(8)	(6)
Distributions paid - capital notes		(9)	(10)	(9)	(10)
Net cash provided by financing activities		1,685	21	413	91
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents		(58)	45	(58)	69
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		342	297	308	239
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year	20(a)	284	342	250	308

AMP Bank Limited Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2017

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies

The consolidated economic entity (the Bank) comprises AMP Bank Limited (the Company), an unlisted public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia, and all entities that it controlled during the period and at the reporting date. The parent entity of AMP Bank Limited is AMP Financial Investment Group Holdings Limited. The ultimate parent entity is AMP Limited. The financial report of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2017 was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 8 February 2018.

a) Basis of preparation

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB), and the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth). The Bank is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing financial statements. The financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

In accordance with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) Corporations Instrument 2016/191, amounts in this directors' report and the accompanying financial report have been rounded to the nearest million Australian dollars, unless stated otherwise. The Company has applied Class Order 10/654 and therefore continues to show both parent and consolidated financial statements and notes to the financial statements.

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to the current year and comparative period, unless otherwise stated. Wherever necessary, comparative information has been reclassified to be consistent with current period disclosure.

Assets and liabilities have been presented on the face of the Statement of financial position in decreasing order of liquidity and do not distinguish between current and non-current items. Although the amount of those assets which may be realised and those liabilities which may be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are not always known, estimates of amounts expected to be recovered or settled (a) no more than 12 months after the reporting date, and (b) more than 12 months after the reporting date, have been provided in footnotes to the relevant notes.

The financial report has been prepared on a historical cost basis except for those items which have been measured at their fair value. The carrying values of recognised assets and liabilities that are hedged using derivatives classified as fair value hedges are adjusted for any changes in fair values attributable to the risks being hedged.

Changes in accounting policy

A number of new accounting standards and amendments have been adopted effective 1 January 2017. These have not had a material effect on the financial position or performance of the Bank.

Australian Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective

A number of new accounting standards and amendments have been issued but are not yet effective, none of which have been early adopted by the Bank in this financial report. These new standards and amendments, when applied in future periods, are not expected to have a material impact on the financial position or performance of the Bank, other than as set out below.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments (AASB 9). AASB 9 is effective for periods beginning on 1 January 2018. AASB 9
makes changes to the classification and measurement of financial instruments, introduces a new expected loss
model and modified hedge accounting rules.

The primary change relates to impairment provisions recognised under the expected credit loss model. For mortgage loans and practice finance loans, based on 30 November 2017 data and current implementation status, we expect the adoption of IFRS 9 impairment requirement to result in a decrease in shareholders' equity in the range of \$9m to \$13m before tax (\$6m to \$9m after tax). For debt securities, no material impact is expected.

For hedge accounting, AASB 9 allows an entity to continue to apply the current AASB 139 Financial Instruments hedge accounting requirements until the macro-hedging project is completed. The Bank has elected to the use of this exception.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (AASB 15). AASB 15 is effective for periods beginning on 1
January 2018. AASB 15 defines principles for recognising revenue and introduces new disclosure requirements.
Under AASB 15, revenue will be recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

From the Bank's perspective, AASB 15 will primarily apply to fee revenue as interest income will continue to fall outside the scope of AASB 15 and will be accounted for under other applicable standards.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a) Basis of preparation (continued)

Based on the impact assessment undertaken, there is no material impact to the bank upon adoption of AASB 15.

AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16). AASB 16 is effective for periods beginning on 1 January 2019. AASB 16 requires
lessees to recognise most leases on balance sheet as lease liabilities with the corresponding right of use as assets.
The impact assessment for adoption of AASB 16 is currently ongoing.

b) Principles of consolidation

The financial statements consolidate the financial information of controlled entities. An entity is controlled when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

The financial information for controlled entities is prepared for the same reporting date as the parent entity, using consistent accounting policies. Where dissimilar accounting policies may exist, adjustments are made to ensure conformity with the group's accounting policies.

Consolidation principles require the total amounts of each underlying asset, liability, income and expense of the controlled entities to be recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Controlled entities acquired are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Information from the financial statements of controlled entities is included from the date the Company obtains control until such time as control ceases. Where the Company ceases to control an entity, the consolidated financial statements include the results for the part of the reporting period during which the Company had control. All inter-company balances and transactions are eliminated in full, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions.

Securitisation vehicles

The Company sells housing loans to securitisation trusts (also referred to as special purpose entities) through its loan securitisation program. These securitisation trusts are controlled by the Company and are therefore consolidated (note 1(p)).

c) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprises of amounts due from banks on demand or with an original maturity of three months or less.

d) Due from banks

Due from banks include short term money market deposits with a maturity date of less than three months, collateral placed and settlement account balances with other banks. Balances are initially recognised at fair value including any directly attributable transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

e) Financial assets

Debt securities

All debt securities are classified as held to maturity investments. Held to maturity investments are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Held to maturity investments are initially recognised at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

Loans and advances

Loans, advances and other receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the Bank provides money directly to a customer with no intention of trading the financial asset. Loans and advances are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs relating to loan origination. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment (note 1(i)).

The amounts required to bring the provisions for impairment to their assessed levels are recognised in the Income statement at each reporting period.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

f) Recognition and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at the date the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire, or are transferred. A transfer occurs when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are passed to an unrelated third party. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.

The Company transfers assets to securitisation trusts but retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets. Where substantially all of the risks and rewards are retained, the transferred assets continue to be recognised on the Company's Statement of financial position.

g) Investments in controlled entities

Investments by the Company in controlled entities are measured at cost less any accumulated impairment loss. The aggregated amount of these investments is less than \$1m, and is therefore not disclosed separately in the financial statements. Further detail is provided in Note 21.

h) Other assets

Other assets are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Other assets comprise prepayments and sundry receivables.

i) Impairment of assets

Assets measured at fair value, where changes in value are reflected in the Income statement, are not subject to impairment testing. All other financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment.

Individual impairment loan loss provision

The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence of impairment. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and advances has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred), discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. Short term balances are not discounted.

Loans and advances are presented net of provisions for loan impairment. The Bank has individual and collective impairment loan loss provisions. Individual impairment loan loss provisions are made when there is clear evidence that the Bank will suffer a loss with little chance of recovery and the amount of the loss is measurable.

All other loans and advances that do not have an individually assessed provision are assessed collectively for impairment.

Collective impairment loan loss provision

The collective impairment loan loss provision methodology is a statistical based model that reduces subjectivity of the provisioning process and makes the provision reflective of historical loss performance.

The model utilises historical losses incurred by the Bank and external data sources to develop a series of probability of default and loss given default factors that can be applied to loans and advances in arrears.

Future cash flows of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the Bank and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Bank. Historical loss experience is adjusted based on current observable data. In addition, the Bank uses its experience and judgement to estimate the amount of an impairment loss. The use of such judgements and reasonable estimates is considered by management to be an essential part of the process and does not impact reliability. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

i) Impairment of assets (continued)

When an asset is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision. Such assets are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off reduce the amount of the expense in the Income statement. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the provision. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the Income statement. If the originally contracted terms of loans and advances are amended, the amounts are classified as renegotiated loans. Such amounts accrue interest as long as the loan performs in accordance with the renegotiated terms.

Other non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Bank's other non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indicator exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.

Impairment is recognised in the Income statement, measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.

j) Taxes

Tax consolidation

AMP Limited, AMP Bank Limited and other wholly owned controlled entities of AMP Limited which are Australia domiciled companies comprise a tax-consolidated group of which AMP Limited is the head entity. The implementation date for the tax-consolidated group was 30 June 2003.

Under tax consolidation, AMP Limited as head entity assumes the following balances from subsidiaries within the tax-consolidated group:

- current tax balances arising from external transactions recognised by entities in the tax-consolidated group occurring after the implementation date; and
- deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits recognised by entities in the tax-consolidated group.

A tax funding agreement has been entered into by the head entity and the controlled entities in the tax-consolidated group. Entities in the tax-consolidated group continue to be responsible, by the operation of the tax funding agreement, for funding tax payments required to be made by the head entity arising from underlying transactions of the controlled entities. Controlled entities make (receive) contributions to (from) the head entity for the balances assured by the head entity as described above. The contributions are calculated in accordance with the tax funding agreement. The contributions are payable as set out in the agreement and reflect the timing of AMP Limited's obligations to make payments to the Australian Taxation Office.

Assets and liabilities which arise as a result of balances transferred from entities within the tax-consolidated group to the head entity are recognised as related-party receivable and payable in the Statement of financial position. The recoverability of balances arising from the tax funding arrangements is based on the ability of the tax-consolidated group to utilise the amounts recognised by the head entity.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense is the tax payable on taxable income for the current period based on the income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to:

- temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their Statement of financial position carrying amounts;
- unused tax losses; and
- the impact of changes in the amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from changes in tax rates or the manner in which these balances are expected to be realised.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

j) Taxes (continued)

Adjustments to income tax expense are also made for any differences between the amounts paid or expected to be paid in relation to prior periods and the amounts provided for these periods at the start of the current period.

Any tax impact on income and expense items recognised directly in equity is also recognised directly in equity.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates which are expected to apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted for each jurisdiction.

The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability. No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted to their present value.

Goods and services tax (GST)

All income, expenses and assets are recognised net of any GST paid, except where they relate to products and services which are input taxed for GST purposes or where the GST incurred is not recoverable from the relevant tax authorities. In such circumstances, the GST paid is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the assets or as part of the relevant expense.

Receivables and payables are recorded with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from or payable to the tax authorities is included as a receivable or payable in the Statement of financial position.

Cash flows are reported on a gross basis reflecting any GST paid or collected. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, local tax authorities are classified as operating cash flows.

k) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value including directly attributable incremental transaction costs. After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption amount is recognised in the Income statement over the life of the financial liability using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities comprise the following:

Due to banks

Due to banks includes money market deposits, certificate of deposits, collateral received and settlement account balance due to other banks.

Due to controlled entities

Loans from controlled entities comprise interest bearing loans.

Deposits and other borrowings

Deposits and other borrowings comprise deposits from related parties, certificates of deposit, term deposits and savings deposits from retail client and wholesale money market counterparties.

Debt securities on issue

The Bank issues term debt to wholesale debt market counterparties. Debt issued includes short and long term borrowings, medium term notes and floating rate notes.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

k) Financial liabilities (continued)

In respect of debt securities on issue, premiums, discounts and associated issue expenses are recognised using the effective interest method through the Income statement from the date of issue to ensure that securities attain their redemption values by maturity date.

Debt securities on issue are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the Income statement over the period of the contract using the effective interest rate method. It is the Bank's policy to hedge currency and interest rate risk arising on debt securities on issue. When fair value hedge accounting is applied to debt securities on issue, the carrying value of debt securities on issue are adjusted for changes in fair value of the hedged risk for the period that the fair value hedge relationship remains effective.

Subordinated debt

The Company issues subordinated term debt with terms and conditions that qualify the debt issue as Tier 2 capital as defined by APRA for capital adequacy purposes.

Other liabilities and payables

Other liabilities mainly include payables to controlled entities and related parties. These are measured at the nominal amount payable. Given the short-term nature of most payables, the nominal amount approximates fair value.

I) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when:

- the Bank has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event;
- it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation;
- a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Where the Bank expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the Income statement net of any reimbursement.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimates of the expenditures required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date. For provisions other than employment entitlements, the discount rate used to determine the present value reflects the current market assessments of the time-value of money and the risk specific to the liability.

Employee provisions

Liabilities arising in respect of salaries and wages, annual leave and any other employee entitlements expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts. All other employee entitlements are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. In determining the present value of future cash outflows, discount rates are determined with reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds or, in countries where there is no deep market in such bonds, using market yields at the end of the period on government bonds.

m) Derivative financial assets, derivative financial liabilities and hedging

The Bank is exposed to changes in interest and foreign exchange rates. To mitigate the risks arising from these exposures the Bank uses derivative financial instruments such as cross currency and interest rate swaps. Derivative financial instruments are held for risk and asset management purposes within mandates only and not for the purpose of speculation. The Bank does not hold a derivative trading portfolio.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value exclusive of any transaction costs on the date on which the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value at the end of each reporting period. All derivatives are recognised as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative.

The method of recognising the movement in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Bank designates a hedge as either:

- a hedge of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge); or
- a hedge of a highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge).

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

m) Derivative financial assets, derivative financial liabilities and hedging (continued)

The Bank documents the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items at inception of the transaction, as well as its risk management and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Bank also documents its assessment of whether the derivatives used in hedging transactions have been, and is expected to continue to be, highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items. This assessment is carried out at both hedge inception and on an ongoing basis.

Accounting for hedges

- (i) Fair value hedges:
 - to the extent that a hedge is effective, changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recognised in the Income statement together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk;
 - the gain or loss relating to any ineffective portion of a hedge is recognised immediately in the Income statement;
 and
 - if a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item, for which the effective interest method is used, is amortised to the Income statement over the period until the forecast transaction occurs.
- (ii) Cash flow hedges:
 - the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised through Other comprehensive income in the Cash flow hedge reserve in equity. The balance of the Cash flow hedge reserve in relation to each particular hedge is transferred to the Income statement in the period when the hedged item affects profit or loss;
 - the gain or loss relating to any ineffective portion of a hedge is recognised immediately in the Income statement
 - hedge accounting is discontinued when a hedging instrument expires, is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting. The cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the Income statement; and
 - when a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the Income statement.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative financial instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of any derivative financial instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the Income statement in the period in which they arise.

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments not traded in an active market (for example over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include net present value techniques, discounted cash flow models and comparison to quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.

n) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and liability simultaneously.

o) Contributed equity

Ordinary shares and capital notes are recognised as the fair value of consideration received by the Company. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of certain new shares are recognised in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

p) Securitisation

The Bank engages in securitisation activities for funding and liquidity purposes. The Bank principally packages and sells residential mortgage loans as securities to investors through a series of securitisation vehicles. The Bank is entitled to any residual income after all payments to investors and costs related to the program have been met. The note holders only have recourse to the pool of assets. The Bank is considered to hold the majority of the residual risks and benefits of the vehicles. All relevant financial assets continue to be held on the Bank's balance sheet, and a liability is recognised for the proceeds of the funding transaction.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

p) Securitisation (continued)

The Bank provides liquidity facilities to the securitisation vehicles. The facilities can only be drawn to manage the timing mismatch of cash inflows from securitised loans and cash outflows due to investors. The liquidity facility limit as at 31 December 2017 was \$2.4m (2016: \$5.5m). The redraw facility limit as at 31 December 2017 was \$21.1m (2016: \$14.0m).

q) Foreign currency transactions

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial report is presented in Australian dollars (the presentation currency). Items included in the financial statements for each of the Bank entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which that entity operates (the functional currency). The functional currency of the parent entity is Australian dollars.

Transactions and balances

Income and expense items denominated in a currency other than the functional currency are translated at the spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date, with exchange gains and losses being recognised in the Income statement.

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

r) Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for all financial instruments measured at amortised cost is recognised in the Income statement using the effective interest method.

The effective interest rate methodology (EIR) is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, cash flows are estimated based upon all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but do not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and other amounts paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

s) Fees and commission income

Fees and commissions income includes servicing fees from housing loans and deposit accounts and are generally recognised as earned.

t) Other (expenses) / income

Other income / (expenses) includes gains and (losses) from changes in the fair value of financial instruments.

u) Operating expenses

Operating expenses are expensed as incurred.

v) Defined contribution funds

The Bank pays contributions to superannuation funds when they become due. The Bank has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised in the Income statement as an expense when they fall due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

2. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The making of judgements, estimates and assumptions is a necessary part of the financial reporting process and these judgements, estimates and assumptions can have a significant effect on the reported amounts in the financial statements. Estimates and assumptions are determined based on information available to management at the time of preparing the financial report and actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions. Had different estimates and assumptions been adopted, this may have had a significant impact on the financial statements. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions are re-evaluated at each reporting period in the light of historical experience and changes to reasonable expectations of future events. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions include but are not limited to:

(a) Consolidation

Entities are included within the consolidated financial statements of the Bank where the Bank has control over the entities. Control arises from exposure, or rights, to variable returns from involvement with an entity, where the Bank has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Judgement is applied by management in assessing whether control exists.

Judgement is applied in determining the relevant activities of each entity and determining whether the Bank has power over these activities. This involves assessment of the purpose and design of the entity, identification of the activities which significantly affect that entity's returns and how decisions are made about those activities. In assessing how decisions are made, management considers voting and veto rights, contractual arrangements with the entity or other parties, and any rights or ability to appoint, remove or direct key management personnel or entities that have the ability to direct the relevant activities of the entity. Consideration is also given to the practical ability of other parties to exercise their rights.

Judgement is also applied in identifying the variable returns of each entity and assessing the Bank's exposure to these returns. Variable returns include distributions, exposure to gains or losses and fees that may vary with the performance of an entity.

(b) Fair value of investments in financial assets and financial liabilities

The Bank measures investments in some financial assets and some financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Where available, quoted market prices for the same or similar instruments are used to determine fair value. Where there is no market price available for an instrument, a valuation technique is used. Management applies judgement in selecting valuation techniques and setting valuation assumptions. Further detail on the determination of fair values of financial instruments is set out in Note 23.

(c) Provisions

(i) Provisions for impairment

The accounting policy, as explained in Note 1(i) relating to impairment of loans and advances, requires the Bank to assess impairment at least at each reporting date. The impairment provisions raised (individual and collective) represent management's best estimate of the losses incurred in the loan portfolio at reporting date. The Bank uses its judgement to estimate the amount of an impairment loss. The use of such judgements and reasonable estimates is considered by management to be an essential part of the process and does not impact reliability.

The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. Note 8 sets out further information on provisions for impairment.

(ii) Other provisions

A provision is recognised for items where the Bank has a present obligation arising from a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The provision is measured as the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation. Management applies judgement in assessing whether a particular item satisfies the above criteria and in determining the best estimate. Note 11 sets out further information on provisions.

(d) Interest income and expenses

As noted in Note 1 (r), interest income and expense for all financial instruments measured at amortised cost is recognised in the Income Statement using the EIR method which depends on assumptions used for estimating the expected life of financial instruments for the calculation of interest income and expense. Management applies judgement in determining the expected life with regard to both historical performance and forward looking expectations.

AMP Bank Limited Notes to the financial statements (continued) for the year ended 31 December 2017

3. Net interest income

	Consolidated		Com	pany
	Dec 2017	Dec 2016	Dec 2017	Dec 2016
	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
Interest income				
Due from banks	4	5	4	3
Derivatives	10	14	10	14
Debt securities	47	47	47	47
Loans and advances	753	690	753	690
Total interest income	814	756	814	754
Interest expense				
Due to banks	22	20	22	20
Derivatives	22	31	22	31
Deposits and other borrowings	315	301	315	301
Debt securities on issue	162	149	62	58
Due to controlled entities	-	-	112	100
Subordinated debt	10	8	10	8
Total interest expense	531	509	543	518
Net interest income	283	247	271	236

Notes to the financial statements (continued) for the year ended 31 December 2017

4. Other (expenses) / income and operating expenses

	Consolidated		Com	pany
	Dec 2017 \$m	Dec 2016 \$m	Dec 2017 \$m	Dec 2016 \$m
Other (expenses) / income				
Derivatives not designated in hedge relationships	(12)	6	(12)	6
Foreign exchange translation gains / (losses) on liabilities	8	(4)	8	(4)
Total other (expenses) / income	(4)	2	(4)	2

	Consc	Consolidated		pany
	Dec 2017	Dec 2016	Dec 2017	Dec 2016
	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
Operating expenses				
Staff and related expenses				
Wages and salaries	24	16	24	16
Contributions to defined contribution funds	3	2	3	2
Other operating expenses				
Information technology and communication	10	11	10	11
Advertising and marketing expenses	1	1	1	1
Legal and regulatory charges	2	3	2	2
Service charges - related party	39	33	39	33
Other expenses	9	12	6	10
Total operating expenses	88	78	85	75

Notes to the financial statements (continued) for the year ended 31 December 2017

5. Income tax

	Conso	lidated	Com	pany
	Dec 2017	Dec 2016	Dec 2017	Dec 2016
	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
Analysis of income tax expense				
Current tax	(67)	(46)	(55)	(52)
Deferred tax	8	(6)	(4)	-
Income tax expense	(59)	(52)	(59)	(52)
Deferred income tax credit / (expense) included in income tax expense				
comprises:		(6)	/A)	200
Increase / (decrease) in deferred tax assets	8	(6)	(4)	
Total deferred tax credit / (expense) included in income tax	8	(6)	(4)	•
Relationship between income tax expense and accounting profit	196	174	196	174
Profit before income tax per Income Statement		(A.A. (A)	(59)	(52)
Prima facie income tax calculated at 30% (2016: 30%)	(59)	(52)	()	
Income tax expense per Income Statement	(59)	(52)	(59)	(52)
Amounts recognised directly in equity				
Deferred tax related to items taken directly in equity during the year:				
Amount reported in other comprehensive income on revaluation of cash				
flow hedges reserve	(4)	(2)	(4)	(2)
now neages reserve				
Analysis of deferred tax assets				
Fair value of derivatives	30	19	6	7
Provisions and accruals	8	5	8	5
Other	(2)	4	(2)	4
Total deferred tax assets	36	28	12	16

6. Other assets

	Conso	Consolidated		pany
	Dec 2017 \$m	Dec 2016 \$m	Dec 2017 \$m	Dec 2016 \$m
Prepayments	3	1	3	1
Other	2	2	14	2
Total other assets (1)	5	3	17	3

7. Debt securities

	Conso	Consolidated		pany
	Dec 2017 \$m	Dec 2016 \$m	Dec 2017 \$m	Dec 2016 \$m
Debt securities - held to maturity	2,528	1,421	2,528	1,421
Total debt securities - held to maturity ⁽¹⁾	2,528	1,421	2,528	1,421

Footnote:

Footnote:

(1) \$2m (2016: \$nil) is expected to be received more than 12 months from the reporting date for the consolidated entity.

^{(1) \$1,530}m (2016: \$606m) is expected to be received more than 12 months from the reporting date for the consolidated entity.

AMP Bank Limited Notes to the financial statements (continued) for the year ended 31 December 2017

8. Loans and advances

	Consol	Consolidated		pany
	Dec 2017	Dec 2016	Dec 2017	Dec 2016
	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
Housing loans and practice finance loans	19,566	17,214	19,566	17,214
Total loans and advances ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾	19,566	17,214	19,566	17,214
Less: Provisions for impairment				
Individual provision	(7)	. (4)	(7)	(4)
Collective provision	(10)	(10)	(10)	(10)
Total provision for impairment	(17)	(14)	(17)	(14)
Total net loans and advances	19,549	17,200	19,549	17,200
Movement in provisions:				
Individual provision				
Balance at the beginning of the period	4	2	4	2
Increase in provision	5	3	5	3
Bad debts written off	(2)	(1)	(2)	(1)
Balance at the end of the period	7	4	7	4
Collective provision				
Balance at the beginning of the period	10	7	10	7
Increase in provision	-	3		3
Balance at the end of the period	10	10	10	10

Footnotes:

(1) During the year, housing loans totalling \$3,160m (2016: \$1,102m) were transferred from the Company to securitisation vehicles. At 31 December 2017, the Bank has outstanding externally securitised assets amounting to \$4,236m (2016: \$2,815m) after allowing for run-off of the initial assets securitised and securitisation entities wound up.
(2) \$15,496 m (2016: \$13,513m) is expected to be received more than 12 months after the reporting date for the consolidated entity and the Company.

AMP Bank Limited Notes to the financial statements (continued) for the year ended 31 December 2017

9. Asset quality

	Conso	Consolidated		pany
	Dec 2017 \$m	Dec 2016 \$m	Dec 2017 \$m	Dec 2016 \$m
Gross loans and advances:			,	
Neither past due nor impaired	19,022	16,667	19,022	16,667
Past-due loans but not impaired (1)	525	536	525	536
Impaired (2)	19	11	19	11
Total gross loans and advances	19,566	17,214	19,566	17,214

Footnotes:

(1) For detailed ageing analysis refer to Note 22 (f)(v) Risk management and financial instruments information.

(2) Impaired assets are contractually at least 90 days in arrears with security insufficient to cover principal and arrears of interest.

AMP Bank Limited Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

10. Deposits and other borrowings

	Consolidated		Company	
	Dec 2017 \$m	Dec 2016 \$m	Dec 2017 \$m	Dec 2016 \$m
Retail deposits (1)	9,655	8,652	9,655	8,652
Certificate of deposits	1,151	798	1,151	798
Euro commercial papers	348	210	348	210
Related party deposits	2,599	2,806	2,599	2,806
Total deposits and other borrowings (2)	13,753	12,466	13,753	12,466

11. Employee provisions

	Con	solidated	С	ompany
	Dec 2017	Dec 2016	Dec 2017	Dec 2016
	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
Employee entitlements ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾	6	3	6	3
Total provisions	6	3	6	3
Employee entitlements				
Employee entitlements		1.72		
Balance at the beginning of the year	3	4	3	4
Additional provision made during the year	6	1	6	1
Provisions used during the year	(3)	(2)	(3)	(2)
Balance at the end of the year	6	3	6	3

Footnote:

Footnote:

(1) The Company holds a \$2.31b deposit (2016: \$2.06b) on behalf of NMMT Limited which is considered a related party deposit. Interest is paid on the deposit at normal commercial terms. NMMT is required to provide the Company with 12 months' notice prior to transferring the deposit arrangement.

(2) \$41m (2016: \$54m) is expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting date for the consolidated entity and the Company.

⁽Provisions for employee entitlements are in respect of amounts accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the reporting date. These entitlements include salaries, wages, bonuses, annual leave, long service leave, but exclude share-based payments.

(2) \$0.5m (2016: \$0.2m) is expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting date for the consolidated entity and the Company.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

12. Debt securities on issue

	Con	Consolidated		Company	
	Dec 2017 \$m	Dec 2016 \$m	Dec 2017 \$m	Dec 2016 \$m	
Medium term notes	2,206	1,904	2,206	1,904	
Term borrowings	4,376	3,097	-	·	
Total debt securities on issue ⁽¹⁾	6,582	5,001	2,206	1,904	

13. Other liabilities

	Conso	Consolidated		pany
	Dec 2017	Dec 2016	Dec 2017	Dec 2016
	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
Payables to related parties	. 12	-	13	2
Other	4	4	3	1
Total other liabilities (1)	16	4	16	3

Footnote:

14. Subordinated debt

	Consolidated		С	ompany	
	Dec 2017 Dec 2016 Dec 2017 \$m \$m \$m	Dec 2017 Dec 2016 Dec 2017	Dec 2017	Dec 2017 Dec 2016	Dec 2016
		\$m	\$m	\$m	
Floating rate unsecured subordinated notes ⁽¹⁾	9	150	1 9	150	
Floating rate subordinated notes - related party (2)	249	-	249	-	
Total subordinated debt	249	150	249	150	

^{(1) \$5,060}m (2016: \$3,516m) is expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting date.

⁽¹⁾ All other liabilities for the consolidated entity and the Company are expected to be paid within 12 months after the reporting date.

⁽⁹⁾ Subordinated debt was called in December 2017 being the first call date.
(2) The balance of \$249m includes net transaction cost adjustment. AMP Bank issued subordinated debt to AMP Limited of \$250m in September 2017 and is expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting date.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

15. Dividends and distributions

	Consolidated		Company	
	Dec 2017 \$m	Dec 2016 \$m	Dec 2017 \$m	Dec 2016 \$m
Dividends and distributions paid during the year				
Final dividend paid Prior year unfranked final dividend per share of 0.75 cents (2016: 0.56 cents) paid in current year	8	6	8	6
Distributions paid - capital notes				
Distributions paid - capital notes	9	10	9	. 10
Total dividends and distributions paid during the period	17	16	17	16
Dividends proposed but not recognised Unfranked dividend per share 1.22 cents (2016: 0.75 cents unfranked)	13	8	13	8
Total dividends proposed but not recognised	13	8	13	8

16. Contributed equity

	Consol	idated	Com	pany
	Dec 2017	Dec 2016	Dec 2017	Dec 2016
	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
Ordinary shares ⁽¹⁾	374	344	374	344
Capital notes ⁽²⁾	140	140	140	140
Total contributed equity at the end of the year	514	484	514	484
Movements in ordinary shares				
Balance at the beginning of the period	344	344	344	344
Issue of ordinary share ⁽³⁾	30	-	30	-
Balance at the end of the period 1,066,344,139 (December 2016: 1,066,344,139) ordinary shares fully paid	374	344	374	344
Movements in capital notes				
Balance at the beginning of the year	140	140	140	140
Balance at the end of the year	140	140	140	140
Total contributed equity at the end of the year	514	484	514	484

Ordinary shares entitle their holders to one vote per share, either in person or by proxy, at the meeting of the company.

notes on 22 December 2021 or, subject to certain conditions, at a later date.

The capital notes are non-cumulative, subordinated, perpetual and unsecured. Distributions on the capital notes are at the absolute discretion of the Company. In the event that APRA determines the Company to be non-viable, the Notes may be written off. In a winding up of the Company, the capital notes will rank ahead of ordinary shares, but behind all other

⁽¹⁰⁾ Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of the winding up of the Company, to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held. Ordinary shares have no par value. The authorised share capital of the Company is 1066.34m shares (2016: 1066.34m).

⁽²⁾ The Company has issued capital notes to AMP Limited as follows:

^{-\$100}m of capital notes with a face value of \$10,000 per note issued in March 2015. The Company has the right but not the obligation to redeem the notes on 27 March 2020 or, subject to certain conditions, at a later date.

- \$40m of capital notes with a face value of \$100 per note issued in November 2015. The Company has the right but not the obligation to redeem the

⁽³⁾ AMP Bank has issued 1 ordinary share of \$30m to AMP Financial Investment Group Holdings Limited ("AMPFIGH") on 29 May 2017.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

17. Commitments

171 Gommanonto	Consolidated		Company	
	Dec 2017 \$m	Dec 2016 \$m	Dec 2017 \$m	Dec 2016 \$m
Bank	2,315	2,511	2,315	2,511
Securitisation vehicles	1,291	1,142	1,291	1,142
Total commitments to provide credit facilities (1)	3,606	3,653	3,606	3,653

Footnote:

18. Auditor's remuneration

	Consolidated		Company	
	Dec 2017 \$'000	Dec 2016 \$'000	Dec 2017 \$'000	Dec 2016 \$'000
Amounts received or due and receivable by the auditors of				
AMP Bank Limited for: (1)				
Audit Services				
- Securitisation vehicles	156	153		-
Other audit services (2)	489	270	489	270
Assurance related services ⁽³⁾	36	149	36	149
Total amounts received or due and receivable by the auditors of AMP Bank Limited	681	572	525	419

Commitments to provide credit facilities include all obligations on the Bank and securitisation vehicles to provide credit facilities. As facilities may expire without being drawn upon, the notional amounts do not necessarily reflect future cash payments.

Footnote:

(1) The full year audit and half year review fee is paid on the Company's behalf by a related entity within the AMP Limited Group.

(2) Other audit fees relate to assurance services provided by the Company's auditor in relation to the Company's compliance with regulatory obligations.

⁽³⁾ Assurance related services relate to agreed upon procedures engagements in relation to the Company's assessment of the content of the Mortgage Loan Statistic Section.

AMP Bank Limited Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

19. Related party disclosures

a) Key management personnel details

AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures defines key management personnel as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly including any directors (whether executive or otherwise) of that Company. The following directors of AMP Bank Limited held office during the year:

Name	Date of changes to the board during the current or prior reporting periods
Patricia Akopiantz (Chairperson)	
Sally Bruce	e a
Holly Suzanna Kramer	(appointed 12 May 2017)
Gordon Lefevre	
Wendy Thorpe	(appointed 13 February 2017)
Trudy Vonhoff	*
Joanne Pollard	(resigned 22 March 2017)
Professor Peter Shergold AC	(resigned 11 May 2017)

b) Transactions with key management personnel

During the year, key management personnel and their personally related entities have entered into transactions with the Bank. All such transactions have occurred within a normal employee, customer or supplier relationship on terms and conditions no more favourable than those that it is reasonable to expect the Bank would have adopted if dealing at arm's length with an unrelated individual. The transactions include normal personal banking with the Bank.

Information about such transactions does not have the potential to affect adversely decisions about the allocation of scarce resources made by users of the financial statements, or the discharge of accountability by the specified executives or specified directors. The following table provides details of loans made by the Bank to key management personnel of the entity:

	Balance at 1 Jan 17 \$'000	Written off \$'000	Net repayments \$'000	Balance at 31 Dec 17 \$'000	Interest charged \$'000	Interest not charged \$'000	Number in group
Key management personnel and							
their related parties (1)(2)	3,221	-	(252)	2,969	101	-	3

Footnote:

⁽¹⁾ All loans to key management personnel and their related parties are provided by AMP Bank and are on similar terms and conditions generally available to other employees within the group. No guarantees are given or received in relation to these loans.

⁽²⁾ Adjusted following changes to key management personnel at the end of 2016.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

19. Related party disclosures (continued)

c) Key management personnel compensation

The following table provides aggregate details of the compensation of key management personnel of the Company. The remuneration is paid by a related company, AMP Services Limited.

	Short-term benefits	Post employment benefits	Share-based payments	Other long-term benefits ⁽³⁾	Termination benefits	Total
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
Non-executive directors ⁽¹⁾						
Dec 2017	853	52	-	-		905
Dec 2016 ⁽²⁾	924	88	-		=	1,012
Key management personnel excluding non-executive directors						
Dec 2017	3,181	95	1,907	285	-	5,468
Dec 2016 ⁽²⁾	2,442	73	1,141	17	436	4,109
All key management personnel						
Dec 2017	4,034	147	1,907	285	•	6,373
Dec 2016 ⁽²⁾	3,366	161	1,141	17	436	5,121

Footnotes:

(1) Non-executive directors are not entitled to short-term incentive payments. Short term benefits include fees and allowances only.

(3) Presentation has been enhanced to include long service leave accruals.

d) Transactions with related parties in the AMP Limited Group

(i) AMP Services Limited provided the Bank with certain administrative and management services including distribution, treasury, payroll, property, computing facilities and project costs, charging the bank \$38m for this service (2016: \$32m). The services were provided in the normal course of business and on normal commercial terms and conditions or on a full cost recovery basis.

The Bank provides AMP Limited and related entities transactional banking services on normal commercial terms.

On 14 May 1998 AMP Limited entered into a deed with the Company to provide certain capital and liquidity support to the Company as required.

- (ii) The Bank is a member of the AMP Limited tax consolidated group and has entered into a tax sharing agreement and tax funding agreement with AMP Limited.
- (iii) AMP Group Holdings Limited provides the Company with an unconditional and irrevocable guarantee. The Company pays a guarantee fee of \$1m each year to AMP Group Holdings Limited.
- (iv) AMP Life Limited provides the Company with funding sourced from call deposit and term deposit facilities by superannuation customers of AMP Life Limited. As at 31 December 2017, the balance including interest is \$1,948m (Dec 2016: \$2,169m). These deposits are provided on normal commercial terms. AMP Life provided the Company with a short term deposits totalling \$347m as at 31 December 2017 (Dec 2016: \$340m). The interest expense to AMP Life Limited for FY17 was \$47m (FY16: \$57m). The commissions paid to AMP aligned advisers for FY17 was \$12m (FY16: \$11m).
- (v) As at 31 December 2017 AMP Capital Investors Ltd provided the Bank with \$298m (Dec 2016: \$292m) short term deposits. The Company pays market rates on the short term deposits. The interest expense to AMP Capital Investors Ltd for FY17 was \$6.2m (FY16: \$6.8m).
- (vi) As at 31 December 2017 AMP Financial Planning Pty Limited and Australian Securities Administration Limited provided the Bank with \$5m (Dec 2016: \$5m) short term deposits. The Company pays market rates on the short term deposits. The interest expense to AMP Financial Planning and Australian Securities Administration Limited for FY17 was \$0.1m (FY16: \$0.1m).

⁽²⁾ This represents the amount paid to those individuals considered key management personnel and disclosed as such in 2016 financial report.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

19. Related party disclosures (continued)

d) Transactions with related parties in the AMP Limited Group (continued)

- (vii) The Company has amounts due to controlled securitisation trusts of \$4,330m as at 31 December 2017 (Dec 2016: \$3,052m).
- (viii) The full year audit and half year review fee is paid on the Bank's behalf by a controlled entity within the AMP Limited Group.
- (ix) The Company holds a \$2.31b deposit (2016: \$2.06b) from NMMT Limited consisting of at call deposits from customers of NMMT Limited.
- (x) As a part of changes to the Buyer of Last Resort (planner registers held under buy back arrangements within the AMP Limited Group) calculation, AMP Financial Planning Pty Limited (AMPFP) has agreed to provide an indemnity to AMP Bank. AMPFP has indemnified AMP Bank against any loss or liability, including all charges, costs and expenses it incurs, in relation to any loan agreement between certain specified borrowers and AMP Bank.
- (xi) In September 2017, the Company issued a 10-year \$250m subordinated debt to AMP Limited. AMP Bank pays interest to AMP Limited at a rate of 3 month BBSW plus 180 basis points. As at 31 December 2017, the balance including interest is \$251m.
- (xii) As at 31 December 2017, the Company has an amount of \$9.4m payable to AMP Finance Pty Ltd in relation to intercompany facility.

20. Notes to the statement of cash flows

	Consolidated		Company	
	Dec 2017	Dec 2016	Dec 2017	Dec 2016
	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents:				
Assets			050	200
Due from banks	284	342	250	308
Balance at the end of the year	284	342	250	308
b) Reconciliation of net profit after tax to the net cash flows from (use	d in) operating activities	:		
Net profit after tax	137	122	137	122
Add/(deduct) non cash items:				
Unrealised fair value movements	2	(12)	2	(12)
Impairment expenses	5	6	5	6
Amortisation expenses	37	-	32	5
Increase in interest receivable	(12)	-	(12)	-
Increase in other assets	(2)	-	(14)	E
Decrease/(Increase) in interest payable	3	-	2	(6)
(Increase) / decrease in deferred tax assets	(8)	6	4	-
Increase in provisions	3	-	3	=
Increase / (decrease) in intercompany tax payable to head entity	25	(20)	25	(1)
Operating cash flow items not included in profit	(826)	(346)	452	(399)
Net cash (used in) / provided operating activities	(636)	(244)	636	(290)
(c) Financing arrangements	14,833	13,179	14,833	13,179
- Available	(2,553)	(2,318)	(2,553)	(2,318)
- Used	12,280	10,861	12,280	10,861
- Unused	12,200	10,001	12,200	,-
(d) Changes in Liabilities arising from financing activities				
Balance at the beginning of the year	5,151	5,114	2,054	1,955
Cashflow from:				
- Proceeds from Issuance of Subordinated debt	250	=	250	
- Redemption of Subordinated debt	(150)	₩.	(150)	
- Issue of Debt securities on issue	4,644	2,120	1,150	602
- Redemption of debt securities on issue	(3,072)	(2,083)	(850)	(505)
Other	8		1	2
Balance at the end of the year	6,831	5,151	2,455	2,054

AMP Bank Limited Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

21. Bank controlled entity holdings

Details of controlled entities are as follows:

	Country of			% HOLDINGS	
Name of entity	incorporation	Share type	Footnote	Dec 2017	Dec 2016
AMP Lending Services Limited	Australia	Ordinary		100	100
Priority One Agency Services Limited	Australia	Ordinary		100	100
Progress Warehouse Trust No1	Australia	-	(1)	99	99
Progress Warehouse Trust No3	Australia		(1)	90	90
Progress 2008-1R Trust	Australia	2 '	(1)	100	100
Progress 2009-1Trust	Australia	÷.	(4)		90
Progress 2010-1Trust	Australia	- 1	(1)	90	90
Progress 2011-1Trust	Australia	- 1	(1)	90	90
Progress 2012-1Trust	Australia	-	(1)	100	100
Progress 2012-2Trust	Australia	-	(1)	100	100
Progress 2013-1Trust	Australia	<u>=</u> 1	(1)	90	90
Progress 2014-1Trust	Australia	=)	(1)	90	90
Progress 2014-2Trust	Australia	-	(1)	90	90
Progress 2016-1Trust	Australia	-:	(1)	90	90
Progress 2017-1Trust	Australia	-9	(1)(2)	90	-
Progress 2017-2Trust	Australia	-	(1)(3)	90	-

Footnotes:

⁽¹⁾ Units issued by securitisation trusts include residual capital units and residual income units. The beneficial interest held by holders of the residual capital units is limited to the trust and each asset of the trust. Residual capital units have no right to receive distributions in respect of the trust other than the right to receive on the termination of the trust, the issue price paid for the residual capital unit and the entire beneficial interest of the trust subject to the right of the holders of residual income units. The beneficial interest held by the holder of a residual income unit is limited to the right to receive distributions. A residual income unit must not be issued to any person unless that person is also then the holder of a residual capital unit. The Company holds 100% of the residual income units.

⁽²⁾ Trust commenced in May 2017.

⁽³⁾ Trust commenced in Dec 2017.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

22. Risk management and financial instruments information

Financial Risk Management

AMP Bank adopts the AMP Group Financial Risk Management (FRM) framework which outlines how financial risk management activities are to be conducted throughout the AMP Limited and the entities it controlled during the year ended 31 December 2017 ("AMP Group"). The Group defines financial risk as the potential for variance of performance against an expected outcome resulting from participation in financial markets. The Bank extends this to include credit risk arising from its Australian banking activities which are limited to residential mortgage lending and practice finance loans to AMP advisers.

a) Board Governance

The Bank Board retains ultimate responsibility for risk management at the Bank. The Board's main risk objective is to provide approval and oversight of the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework. Key risk management responsibilities include setting the Bank's Risk Appetite, assessing, monitoring, reviewing and objectively challenging the effectiveness of the system of risk, compliance and balance sheet management including the approval of the Bank's Risk Management Strategy (RMS), its Capital Management Framework and relevant risk policies.

Board Committees serve as a source of specialised expertise in a defined area. AMP Bank Limited has two board committees: the Board Audit Committee (BAC) and the Board Risk Committee (BRC). These committees support the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing oversight, review and monitoring of various key risk management practices within AMP Bank. The BRC assists the Board by providing objective oversight of the implementation and operation of the Bank's ERM framework whereas the BAC assists the Board by providing an objective review of the effectiveness of AMP Bank's financial reporting and ERM framework.

b) Executive Governance

Bank Asset & Liability Committee (Bank ALCO) – oversees and monitors risks relating to asset and liability management within AMP Bank, including setting and managing relevant risk limits and monitoring compliance with relevant prudential standards. Bank ALCO also oversees and monitors the Bank's regulatory capital and target surplus position. Stress Testing Steering Committee (STSC) – oversees the ICAAP (Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process), Stress Testing and the Stress Testing Working Group, which is a sub-group of STSC.

Credit Risk Committee - oversees and monitors retail credit risk arising primarily from its residential mortgage lending within Australia but also through the provision of practice finance loans to AMP planners. Credit Risk Committee approves credit policies, processes and delegations which are consistent with Bank strategy and oversees adherence to policy; monitors the performance of third party suppliers in the credit process (mortgage insurers, credit bureaux, solicitors and valuers); approves arrears management policies and approves and recommends specifics and collective impairment methodologies to BAC; reviews and approves stress testing scenarios on the Bank's loan portfolios to understand the implications on profit and capital; and reviews and monitors emerging material risks that can impact the Bank's credit risk.

Product & Pricing Committee (PPC) - ensures the effective management and governance of product risk for AMP Bank. Product risk is defined as the risk of product stagnation whereby on-sale products are not competitive. This includes managing interest rates, design features of and marketing campaigns for retail banking products. Specific responsibilities include anticipate and respond to changing customer behaviour or competitor activity; product specifications, design features and new product business cases; pricing for all retail products including interest rates, fees and charges; product profitability and portfolio mix and yield; marketing campaigns / promotions outside of agreed parameters and commission structures for products and distributor groups. The PPC is also responsible for the new business mix in line with AMP Bank's Risk Appetite.

Business Risk & Compliance Committee (BRCC) - monitors, reviews and acts as a decision making committee for the implementation of effective operations risk and compliance management practices, processes and systems within the Bank, taking into account business goals and strategic objectives. BRCC also maintains oversight over the Bank's ERM framework. Specific responsibilities include: promoting a risk aware culture; maintaining the Bank's Risk Appetite Statement and RMS; ensuring active management of operational risk within risk appetite; considering the impact of the Bank's strategy on its operational risk and compliance environment; reviewing and monitoring the current risk and control environment including emerging material operational and compliance issues; monitoring the implementation and effectiveness of the Bank's ERM practices; and reviewing and endorsing the Bank's Internal Audit plan.

c) Risk and mitigation

Financial risks arising in the Bank include market risk (principally non traded interest rate risk); liquidity and refinancing risk; and credit risk. These risks are managed according to the Enterprise Risk Management Policy and individual policies for each risk category.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

22. Risk management and financial instruments information (continued)

c) Risk and mitigation (continued)

This financial risk management includes the use of derivatives such as interest rate swaps, basis swaps and forward rate agreements to hedge exposures arising from changes in interest rates. The Bank also uses Lenders Mortgage Insurance (LMI) to limit retail credit risk exposure.

d) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of assets and liabilities or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to movements in the financial markets, including foreign exchange rates, interest rates and credit spreads.

The following table provides information on significant market risk exposures for the Bank, which could lead to an impact on the AMP group's profit after tax and equity, and the management of those exposures.

Market risk	Exposures	Management of exposures and use of derivatives
Interest rate risk The risk of an impact on the Bank's profit after tax and equity arising from fluctuations of the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments due to changes in market interest rates. Interest rate movements could result from changes in the absolute levels of interest rates, the shape of the yield curve, the margin between yield curves and the volatility of interest rates.	Interest rate risk from mismatches in the repricing terms of assets and liabilities (term risk) and variable rate short-term repricing bases (basis risk).	The Bank uses natural offsets, interest rate swaps and basis swaps to hedge the mismatches within exposure limits. AMP' Limited's Group Treasury function (Bank Treasury) manages the exposure in the Bank by maintaining a net interest rate risk position within the limits delegated and approved by the AMP Bank Board.
Currency risk The risk of an impact on the Bank's profit after tax and equity arising from fluctuations of the fair value of a financial asset, liability or commitment due to changes in foreign exchange rates.	The Bank does not maintain unhedged foreign exchange exposures with the exception to the exposures arising from the USD collateral posted for cleared swaps.	There is no trading in currencies, and any funding raised in a non-domestic currency is immediately hedged into the functional currency.

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis

The table on the following page includes sensitivity analysis showing how the profit after tax and equity would have been impacted by changes in interest risk variables. The analysis:

- Shows the direct impact of a reasonably possible change in interest rate and is not intended to illustrate a remote, worst case stress test scenario.
- Assumes that all underlying exposures and related hedges are included and the change in variable occurs at the
 reporting date.
- Does not include the impact of any mitigating management actions over the period to the subsequent reporting date.
- Is performed on the basis that the categories of risks faced and methods used for deriving sensitivity information did not change from previous periods.

The analysis demonstrates the impact of a 100 basis point change in Australian interest rates, with all other variables held constant, on profit after tax and equity. It is assumed that there are concurrent movements in interest rates and parallel shifts in the yield curves. The impact on profit after tax reflects underlying hedging and portfolio offset as well as the Bank's ability to re-price certain financial instruments. The impact on equity includes both the impact on profit after tax as well as impact of amounts that would be taken directly to equity in respect of the portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that qualify as cash flow hedges for hedge accounting. A sensitivity level of 100 basis points is determined considering the range of interest rates applicable to interest bearing financial assets and financial liabilities in the Bank.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

22. Risk management and financial instruments information (continued)

d) Market risk (continued)

	Change in variables	Dec 20 Impact on profit after tax Increase (decrease) \$m	Impact on equity Increase (decrease) \$m	Dec 2º Impact on profit after tax Increase (decrease) \$m	Impact on equity Increase (decrease) \$m
Consolidated	+100 basis points -100 basis points	-	24 (31)	-	(1) 1
Company	+100 basis points -100 basis points	- -	24 (31)	-	(1)

e) Liquidity and refinancing risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is not able to meet its obligations as they fall due because of an inability to liquidate assets or obtain adequate funding when required. While refinancing risk is the risk the Bank is not able to refinance its liabilities or its ongoing debt requirements on appropriate terms and pricing.

The Bank maintains a liquidity buffer, above regulatory requirements, to meet its obligations even in a severe liquidity stress and ensures that its loans are funded with reliable, stable and diverse funding sources.

AMP Bank operated under APRA's Basel III liquidity standard, APS 210, which requires the Bank to maintain a Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) of at least 100% and from 1 January 2018 a Net Stable Funding Ratio(NSFR) of at least 100%. The Bank is in compliance with the LCR and NSFR requirement.

Funding mix

The Bank's liabilities comprise a mix of retail deposits, short and long term wholesale funding, securitisation and hybrid capital instruments. The Bank manages its funding mix and liquidity profile within risk appetite settings to enable it to respond to changing market and regulatory conditions.

Contractual maturity of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis

The tables on the following page show cashflows associated with financial liabilities including derivative liabilities within relevant maturity groupings based on the earliest date on which the Consolidated and the Company may be required to pay.

The balances in the tables will not necessarily agree to amounts presented on the balance sheet as amounts incorporate net cashflows on an undiscounted basis (except for debt securities on issue which are based on expected repayment) and therefore include both prinicipal and associated future interest payments.

It should be noted that this is not how the Bank manages its liquidity risk which is detailed above.

Notes to the financial statements (continued) for the year ended 31 December 2017

22. Risk management and financial instruments information (continued)

e) Liquidity and refinancing risk (continued)

	Up to 1 year or no			
Consolidated	term	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Dec 2017	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
Non-derivative financial liabilities				(= 10)
Due to banks	(740)	-	-	(740)
Deposits and other borrowings	(13,823)	(41)	-	(13,864)
Debt securities on issue	(1,705)	(4,322)	(1,112)	(7,139)
Subordinated debt	(9)	(285)		(294)
Derivative financial instruments				
Interest rate swaps	(5)	(19)	(22)	(46)
Commitments				
Credit-related commitments (1)	(3,606)	-	-	(3,606)
Total undiscounted financial liabilities and commitments	(19,888)	(4,667)	(1,134)	(25,689)
Dec 2016	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
N. J. J. C. C. Sandal Baliffelia				
Non-derivative financial liabilities	(501)		_	(501)
Due to banks		/FG\	-	(12,560)
Deposits and other borrowings	(12,504)	(56)	-	
Debt securities on issue	(1,620)	(3,675)	-	(5,295)
Subordinated debt	(157)	-	:=	(157)
Derivative financial instruments				
Interest rate swaps	(16)	(12)	v.	(28)
Commitments				
Credit-related commitments (1)	(3,653)	-	-	(3,653)
Total undiscounted financial liabilities and commitments	(18,451)	(3,743)	-	(22,194)

⁽¹⁾ The Bank expects that not all of the credit-related commitments will be drawn before their contractual expiry.

Notes to the financial statements (continued) for the year ended 31 December 2017

22. Risk management and financial instruments information (continued)

e) Liquidity and refinancing risk (continued)

e) Elquidity and remianoing flox (continuou)	Up to 1 year or no			
Company	term	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
Dec 2017	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
Non-derivative financial liabilities				
Due to banks	(740)	-	-	(740)
Deposits and other borrowings	(13,823)	(41)	_	(13,864)
Debt securities on issue	(559)	(1,799)	-	(2,358)
Due to controlled entities	(1,146)	(2,523)	(1,112)	(4,781)
Subordinated debt	(9)	(285)	-	(294)
Derivative financial instruments				
Interest rate swaps	(5)	(19)	(22)	(46)
Commitments				
Credit-related commitments ⁽¹⁾	(2,315)	-	-	(2,315)
Total undiscounted financial liabilities and commitments	(18,597)	(4,667)	(1,134)	(24,398)
Dec 2016	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
No. 1 de la Companya de la Universa				
Non-derivative financial liabilities	(504)		400	(501)
Due to banks	(501) (12,504)	(56)	_	(12,560)
Deposits and other borrowings	(650)	(1,371)	-	(2,021)
Debt securities on issue	, ,	(2,304)	-	(3,274)
Due to controlled entities	(970)	(2,304)	-	(157)
Subordinated debt	(157)	-	-	(137)
Derivative financial instruments	440)	(10)		(20)
Interest rate swaps	(16)	(12)	-	(28)
Commitments				25.000
Credit-related commitments ⁽¹⁾	(2,511)) <u>.</u>		(2,511)
Total undiscounted financial liabilities and commitments	(17,309)	(3,743)	-	(21,052)

⁽¹⁾ The Bank expects that not all of the credit-related commitments will be drawn before their contractual expiry.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

22. Risk management and financial instruments information (continued)

f) Credit risk

Retail credit risk in the Bank is governed by the Bank's Credit Risk Committee which has ownership for lending policy, arrears management policy, portfolio monitoring, portfolio management limits and credit compliance rates. It is the responsibility of the Credit Risk Committee to ensure that credit risk is managed within the Bank's risk appetite.

Credit delegations are controlled by the Head of Credit and allocated based on experience and performance.

The Bank's credit policies are compliant with APS 220 and consistent with APG 223 (for residential mortgages). Credit risk in the Bank is primarily through secured housing loans lending and practice finance lending to aligned AMP advisers.

The Bank is licensed under the National Consumer Credit Protection Act which is regulated by ASIC and complies with its responsible lending obligations.

For residential mortgages, the bank undertakes a detailed credit assessment of the borrower, the ability of the borrower to meet their contractual obligations of repayment and a review of acceptable security. The Bank reduces its exposure to default losses via the requirement for lenders mortgage insurance where the loan as a proportion of value exceeds 80%, the securities are located in high risk areas or where the loan is securitised.

For practice finance loans, financial analysis of AMP advisers is undertaken to perform a thorough credit evaluation in accordance with defined policies and procedures, assessing serviceability criteria, the frequency by which counterparties are reviewed, and eligible forms of collateral.

Wholesale counterparty credit risk is where the Bank is exposed to the creditworthiness of other financial institutions, governments and other counterparties as a consequence of its funding, liquidity management and hedging of interest rate and foreign exchange risks. Credit limits for counterparties are based on external ratings provided by the rating agencies, consistent with the general policy for the AMP Limited Group. The Bank seeks to mitigate counterparty credit risk through the use of netting arrangements and the receipt of collateral where it is available.

The AMP Bank wholesale counterparty credit risk exposure policy sets out how counterparty credit risk is managed and is aligned with the AMP Bank Risk Appetite Standard. The policy establishes a framework of identifying, assessing, managing, quantifying and escalating counterparty credit risks, including large exposures and exposures to related entities. Breaches of the policy are escalated to senior management, Bank ALCO, and the BAC.

Retail credit risk is reported to the Credit Risk Committee and wholesale counterparty credit risk to Bank ALCO.

(i) Management of credit risk concentration

Concentration of credit risk arises when a number of financial instruments or contracts are entered into with the same counterparty or where a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic or other conditions. Concentration of credit risk in the Bank is managed through both aggregate credit rating limits and individual counterparty limits, which are determined predominantly on the basis of the counterparty's credit rating. The Bank's maximum credit exposure to any external non-sovereign and non-semi government counterparty as at 31 December 2017 was \$116m (2016: \$251m with an AA+ rated counterparty) with a currently AA- rated counterparty.

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Bank's policies and procedures include specific guidelines to focus on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and managed accordingly.

At reporting date, the Bank had no specific concentration of credit risk with a single counterparty arising from the use of financial instruments, other than the normal clearing-house exposures associated with dealings through recognised exchanges.

(ii) Exposure to credit risk

The Bank's maximum exposure to credit risk on recognised financial assets, without taking account of any collateral or other credit enhancements, as at the reporting date was \$22,384m (2016: \$18,983m). The Bank has loan commitments at reporting date of \$3,606m (2016: \$3,653m).

Maximum credit exposure includes loans and advances of \$19,549m (2016: \$17,200m) and other items (such as clearing and settlement accounts) arising in the course of operations \$50m (2016: \$37m).

The exposures on the interest bearing securities and cash equivalents which impact the Bank's capital position are managed by AMP Group Treasury within limits set by the AMP Limited Group's Concentration Risk Policy. The following table provides information regarding the credit risk exposures for those items according to the credit rating of the counterparties.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

22. Risk management and financial instruments information (continued)

f) Credit risk (continued)

	Dec 2017	Dec 2016
Credit rating	\$m	\$m
AAA	101	204
AA- to AA+	1,545	1,129
A- to A+	974	303
BBB- to BBB+	165	110
Total financial assets with credit risk exposure managed by AMP Treasury	2,785	1,746

(iii) Credit risk of the loan portfolio – housing loans

The Bank is predominantly a lender for residential properties - both owner occupied and for investment. In every case the Bank completes a credit assessment, which includes cost of living allowance and requires valuation of the proposed security property. Approximately 22% of the Bank's residential loan portfolio is externally securitised and all loans in securitisation trusts are loans that have LMI thereby further mitigating the risk. The Bank's Credit Risk Committee and Board oversee trends in lending exposures and compliance with concentration limits as a further basis of limiting lending risk. The Bank secures its housing loans with mortgages over relevant properties and as a result manages credit risk on its loans with conservative lending policies and particular focus on the loan to value ratio (LVR). The LVR is calculated by dividing the total loan amount outstanding by the lower of the Bank's approved valuation amount or the purchase price. Loans with LVR greater than 80% are fully mortgage insured. Mortgage insurance is provided by Genworth Mortgage Insurance Australia Ltd and QBE Lenders Mortgage Insurance Ltd who are both regulated by APRA. The Bank has strong relationships with both insurers and experienced minimal levels of historic claim rejections and reductions. The average LVR at origination of the Bank's loan portfolio for existing and new business is set out in the following table:

	Existing	New	Existing	New
	business	business	business	business
LVR %	Dec 2017	Dec 2017	Dec 2016	Dec 2016
0 - 50	18%	12%	17%	9%
51 - 60	12%	12%	11%	9%
61 - 70	18%	17%	17%	16%
71 - 80	36%	47%	38%	50%
81 - 90	12%	6%	13%	8%
91 - 95	4%	6%	4%	8%
> 95	0%	0%	0%	0%

(iv) Practice Finance loans

Practice Finance loans are loans to AMP aligned advisers and secured against the underlying client registers and the income generated from these clients.

(v) Past due but not impaired financial assets

The following table provides an aging analysis of loans and advances to customers that are past due as at reporting date but not impaired.

r.	Dec 2017	Dec 2016
	\$m	\$m
Past due but not impaired:		
- Less than 30 days	374	373
- 31 days to 60 days	61	66
- 61 days to 90 days	27	25
- More than 91 days	63	72
Total past due but not impaired	525	536

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

22. Risk management and financial instruments information (continued)

f) Credit risk (continued)

(vi) Impaired financial assets and impairment assessment

The Bank maintains individual provisions and collective loan impairment provisions against impaired loans.

(vii) Renegotiated loans

Where possible, the Bank seeks to restructure loans for borrowers seeking hardship relief rather than take possession of collateral. This may involve capitalising interest repayments for a period and increasing the repayment arrangement for the remaining term of the loan. Once the terms have been renegotiated, the loan is no longer considered past due. The Bank assisted customers by renegotiating \$88m (2016: \$84m) worth of loans during the year, that otherwise would be past due or impaired.

(viii) Collateral on housing loans

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are in place covering the acceptability and valuation of each type of collateral.

The Bank holds collateral against its loans and advances to customer primary in the form of mortgage interests over property, other registered securities over assets and guarantees.

Management monitors the market value of collateral and will request additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement.

In the event of customer default, the Bank can enforce any security held as collateral against the outstanding claim. Any loan security is usually held as mortgagee in possession while the Bank seeks to realise its value through the sale of property. Therefore the Bank does not hold any real estate or other assets acquired through the repossession of collateral.

g) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value in the Statement of financial position as assets and liabilities. Asset and liability values on individual transactions are only netted if the transactions are with the same counterparty and the cash flows will be settled on a net basis, or if default of counterparty occurs. Changes in values of derivative financial instruments are recognised in the Income statement unless they qualify as effective cash flow hedges for accounting purposes, as set out in Note 1(m).

At any one time, the maximum exposure to credit risk will generally be limited to the current fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Bank less collateral obtained. This credit risk exposure is managed as part of the overall limits with counterparties.

The Bank currently discloses the fair value of its derivative instruments in its balance sheet on a gross basis. Collateral generally consists of 11am loans and deposits, is exchanged between the counterparties to reduce the exposure from the net fair value of derivative assets and liabilities between the counterparties.

There were also \$6m (2016: \$6m) of collateral deposits (due to other financial institutions) and \$13m (2016: \$4m) of collateral loans (due from other financial institutions) relating to derivative assets and liabilities.

If a default of counterparty occurs all contracts with the counterparty may be terminated at the election of the Bank. They are then settled on a net basis at prevailing market values. As at 31 December 2017, when netting arrangements are applied to the derivative portfolio, the derivative assets are reduced by \$12m (31 December 2016: \$16m) to the net amount of \$11m (31 December 2016: \$4m). The derivative liabilities are reduced by \$12m (31 December 2016: \$13m) to the net amount of \$15m (31 December 2016: \$9m).

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

22. Risk management and financial instruments information (continued)

h) Accounting for hedges

Derivative transactions may qualify either as fair value hedges or cash flow hedges, where the Bank qualifies for hedge accounting. The Bank's accounting policies for derivatives designated and accounted for as hedging instruments are explained in Note 1(m), where terms used in the following section are also explained. The Bank also enters into derivative transactions that provide economic hedges but which do not meet the requirements for hedge accounting treatment.

Derivative instruments accounted for as fair value hedges

Fair value hedges are used to protect against changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities due to movements in exchange rates and interest rates.

Derivative instruments accounted for as cash flow hedges

The Bank is exposed to variability in future interest cash flows on non-trading assets and liabilities which bear interest at fixed and variable rates. The Bank uses interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risks and many of the swaps are cash flow hedges for accounting purposes.

The following schedule shows, as at the reporting date, the periods when the hedged cash flows are expected to occur and when they are expected to affect profit and loss.

Dec 2017	0-1 year	1-2 years	2-3 years	3-4 years	4-5 years
Consolidated	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m	\$m
Cash inflows	98	43	32	29	20
Cash outflows	(99)	(43)	(31)	(26)	(20)
Net cash outlfows	(1)	-	1	3	
Dec 2016					
Consolidated					•
Cash inflows	98	40	15	6	3
Cash outflows	(104)	(38)	(14)	(8)	(4)
Net cash inflows (outlfows)	(6)	2	1	(2)	(1)
Dec 2017					
Company					
Cash inflows	98	43	32	29	20
Cash outflows	(99)	(43)	(31)	(26)	(20)
Net cash outlfows	(1)	-	1	3	7=
Dec 2016					
Company					
Cash inflows	98	40	15	6	3
Cash outflows	(104)	(38)	(14)	(8)	(4)
Net cash inflows (outlfows)	(6)	2	1	(2)	(1)

\$nil (2016: \$nil) was recognised in the Income statement due to hedge ineffectiveness from cash flow hedges.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

23. Fair Values

The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities not presented on the Statement of financial position at fair value.

Consolidated	Carrying amount Dec 2017 \$m	Aggregated fair value Dec 2017 \$m	Carrying amount Dec 2016 \$m	Aggregated fair value Dec 2016 \$m
Financial assets				
Due from banks	284	284	342	342
Debt securities	2,528	2,532	1,421	1,424
Loans and advances ⁽¹⁾	19,549	19,544	17,200	17,201
Total financial assets	22,361	22,360	18,963	18,967
Financial liabilities				
Due to banks	740	740	501	501
Deposits and other borrowings ⁽¹⁾	13,753	13,751	12,466	12,508
Debt securities on issue	6,582	6,628	5,001	5,016
Subordinated debt	249	252	150	153
Total financial liabilities	21,324	21,371	18,118	18,178

Footnote:

The Company disclosures for fair values of financial assets and liabilities have not been separately provided as these are similar to the consolidated disclosures.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction. Refer to Note 1(m) for fair value estimation methods.

Debt securities

The estimated fair value of debt securities is determined with reference to quoted market prices. For debt securities where quoted market prices are not available, a discounted cash flow model is used based on a current yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity.

Loans and advances

The estimated fair value of loans and advances represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received based on the maturity profile of the loans. The discount rate applied is based on a current yield curve appropriate for similar types of loans and advances at the reporting date.

Due to banks

The fair value of amounts due to other banks are the same as carrying value except for certificate of deposits, where the estimated fair value is determined with reference to interest rate yield curves.

Deposit and other borrowings

The estimated fair value of deposits and other borrowings represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be paid based on the residual maturity of these liabilities. The discount rate applied is based on a current yield curve appropriate for similar types of deposits and borrowings at the reporting date.

Debt securities on issue

The estimated fair value of debt securities on issue is determined with reference to quoted market prices. For debt securities on issue where quoted market prices are not available, a discounted cash flow model is used based on a current yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity.

Subordinated debt

The estimated fair value of subordinated debt is determined using a discounted cash flow model on a current yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity.

Derivatives assets and liabilities

The fair value of derivatives assets and liabilities, including foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps are determined using the discounted cash flow valuation technique.

⁽¹⁾ The comparatives have been changed due to updates in assumptions.

AMP Bank Limited Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

23. Fair Values (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

Financial instruments measured at fair value are categorised under a three level hierarchy, reflecting the availability of observable market inputs when estimating the fair value. If different levels of inputs are used to measure a financial instrument's fair value, the classification within the hierarchy is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The three levels are:

Level 1: Valued by reference to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. These quoted prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's length basis.

Level 2: Valued using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices), including: quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets in which there are few transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities, and other inputs that are not quoted prices but are observable for the asset or liability, for example interest rate yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, currency rates, option volatilities, credit risks, and default rates.

Level 3: Valued in whole or in part using valuation techniques or models that are based on unobservable inputs that are neither supported by prices from observable current market transactions in the same instrument nor based on available market data. Unobservable inputs are determined based on the best information available, which might include the Bank's own data, reflecting the Bank's own estimates about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. Valuation techniques are used to the extent that observable inputs are not available, and include estimates about the timing of cash flows, discount rates, earnings multiples and other inputs.

Bank has assessed its financial instruments and concluded that all of them are categorised as Level 2 (2016: all Level 2).

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

24. Capital adequacy

As an authorised deposit-taking institution (ADI), AMP Bank Limited (the Bank) is subject to regulation by APRA under the authority of the *Banking Act 1959*. APRA has set minimum regulatory capital requirements and capital buffers for banks that are consistent with the Basel III Framework.

The Bank's capital structure comprises various forms of capital. Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) comprises paid-up ordinary share capital, retained earnings plus certain other items recognised as capital. The ratio of such capital to risk weighted assets is called the CET1 ratio. Additional Tier 1 capital comprises certain securities with required loss absorbing characteristics. Together these components of capital make up Tier 1 capital and the ratio of such capital to risk weighted assets is called the Tier 1 capital ratio.

Tier 2 capital mainly comprises subordinated debt instruments, and contributes to the overall capital framework.

CET1 contains the highest quality of capital, followed by Additional Tier 1 capital and then followed by Tier 2 capital. The sum of Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital is called Total Capital. The ratio of Total Capital to risk-weighted assets is called the Total Capital ratio. The minimum CET1 ratio, Tier 1 capital ratio and Total Capital ratio under APRA's Basel III Prudential Standard APS 110 are 4.5%, 6.0% and 8.0% respectively. These minimum capital ratios are referred to as the Prudential Capital Requirements.

In addition to the Prudential Capital Requirements described above, banks are also required to hold a Regulatory Capital Buffer (RCB) comprising the aggregate of:

- A capital conservation buffer, equal to 2.5% of risk weighted assets; and
- A countercyclical capital buffer, which may vary over time in response to market conditions. This buffer may range between zero and 2.5% of risk weighted assets and, for Australian exposures, was determined by APRA to be zero effective 1 January 2016.

Where an individual ADI does not hold sufficient capital to meet its RCB, the ADI would be subject to constraints on its ability to make capital and bonus distributions.

The Bank actively manages its capital to balance the requirements of various stakeholders (regulators, rating agencies and shareholders). This is achieved by optimising the mix of capital while maintaining adequate capital ratios throughout the financial year. The Bank's capital ratios throughout the 2017 financial year were in compliance with both APRA and the Bank Board minimum capital requirements and buffers. The Bank continues to operate at a buffer to the Bank Board requirement.

Credit ratings

The key ratings for the Bank, as published by Standard & Poor's and Moody's Investor Services, at 31 December 2017 were as follows:

Company	Standard & Poor's Credit rating	Moody's Credit rating		
AMP Bank Limited	A / Stable / A-1	A2 / Negative / P-1		

AMP Bank Limited Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2017

25. Events occurring after the reporting date

On 5 February 2018, the Company declared a final dividend of \$13m.

With the exception of the above, the directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the year that has significantly affected or may significantly affect the consolidated entity's operations in future years, the results of those operations in future years, or its state of affairs in future years which is not already reflected in this report.

AMP BANK LIMITED

Directors' declaration

for the year ended 31 December 2017

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of AMP Bank Limited, for the purposes of Section 295(4) of the *Corporations Act 2001*, the directors declare that:

- (a) in the opinion of the directors there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable;
- (b) in the opinion of the directors the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the *Corporations Act 2001*, including section 296 (compliance with accounting standards) and section 297 (true and fair view); and
- (c) the notes to the financial statements include an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as discussed in note1(a).

Patricia Slapints

Sydney, 8 February 2018



Ernst & Young 200 George Street Sydney NSW 2000 Australia GPO Box 2646 Sydney NSW 2001 Tel: +61 2 9248 5555 Fax: +61 2 9248 5959

Independent Auditor's Report to the Member of AMP Bank Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of AMP Bank Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (collectively the Group), which comprises:

- the Group consolidated and Company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2017;
- the Group consolidated and Company income statements, statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended;
- notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies; and
- the directors' declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report is in accordance with the *Corporations Act 2001*, including:

- a) giving a true and fair view of the Company's and the Group's financial position as at 31 December 2017 and of their financial performance for the year ended on that date; and
- b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report* section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the *Corporations Act 2001* and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 *Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants* (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor's Report Thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information is the directors' report accompanying the financial report.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.



Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the *Corporations Act 2001* and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's and Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
 fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
 evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
 detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
 error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
 override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's or the Group's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's or Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company or the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
 disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events
 in a manner that achieves fair presentation.



Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Ernst e Young

Ernst & Young

Clare Sporle Partner Sydney

8 February 2018